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1. Name of Property
historic name Engine Company Number Onpe
other names/site nhumber

APR 17 1988

2. Location
street & number 452 Ellis Street N/ Anot for publication
city, town Augusta 1./ hvicinity
state  Georgia code  Ga county Richmongd code G4 Z453 zip code 30901
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
(] public-local [ district 1 buildings
D public-State EI site sites
[ public-Federal [ structure structures
[ ] object objects
1 0 Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register __ 0

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomination [_] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinjoR, the prope (] meets,[_]does not meet the National Register criteria. (] see continuation sheet. 4
: }2 1! 2 DZZ

Dr. ElZaveth A. Lyon, Deputy ZHPG Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [_Imeets [_]does not meet the National Register criteria. [ see continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification R
I.Eh({eby, certify that this property is:
entered in the National Register. W 4‘ W
[:] See continuation sheet. 5 ‘ z& 5"[&3
[ ] determined eligible for the National
Register. [ ]see continuation sheet.

[l determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[ Jremoved from the National Register.
I_:]other, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Government; fire station Commnerce/Trade; professional
7. Description
Architectural Classiﬁcagion Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)
. foundation Brick
Italianate walls Brick
Romanesque Stucco
roof Metal
other Metal
Stone

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Engine Company Number 1 firehouse is located in Augusta, a medium-sized city
situated on the geographical fall line at the eastern border of the state of Georgia.
In Augusta, the building is on Ellis Street between Fourth and Fifth Streets within
an area of mixed residential and commercial use and is surrounded by, though not included
in the Pinched Gut, Broad Street, and Greene Street National Register Historic Districts.

The 1892 Engine Company Number 1 was the first firehouse built for the City of
Augusta's paid fire department. The building is representative of the city's
late-19th-century public buildings and of the urban, "storefront-style" firehouses of
the period. A rectangular, two-story, brick-masonry structure, the firehouse stands
detached on a narrow city lot. 1Its architectural details are an eclectic Victorian
combination including Italianate corbeled brickwork and segmentally arched window and
door openings, and a prominent Romanesque, arch. An elaborate square wooden bell tower
that gave architectural emphasis to the building is now gone, but the building's facade
retains the oversized first-floor entranceway that identified it as a firehouse.

Engine Company Number 1 follows the trend of late-19th-century public buildings
constructed of red brick that followed Victorian tastes for rich color, texture, and
pattern. Italianate and Romanesque details define the front facade. The presence of
an elaborate tower on a prominent front corner marked the building's function as one
of great importance in public service. The three-bay, symmetrical facade has a central
projecting pavilion with pedimented gable and pressed-metal cornice with decorative
modillions. The pedimented gable continues back to form a gabled roof. The projecting
pavilion contains the oversized, segmentally arched entranceway for the fire engine
at street level and second-floor windows surmounted by a Romanesque arch within which
the pressed-metal firehouse sign is set. To either side are first-floor entrances and
second-floor segmentally arched windows. Corbeled brick details add depth to the upper
facade and form a secondary building cornice and stringcourses. Brick voussoirs and
quoins frame the oversized entrance, which is topped by its own denticulated pressed
metal cornice. The bell tower was removed in the 1950s due to deterioration of its
wooden frame, but the base with pressed-metal cornice remains.

While the stylistic front facade portrays the building's importance as a public
firehouse, the remainder of the exterior is utilitarian. The side and rear brick facades
were stuccoed over in the 1940s or 50s, apparently as a result of brick deterioration.
Segmentally arched windows punctuate both side facades and the rear, with a large, first-
floor opening in the rear wall, perhaps for moving horses in and out of the building.
Three interior chimneys have been repaired and stuccoed. A hose rack for drying fire
hoses was attached to the northwest side of the building, but no longer vemains.

See continuation sheet
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Two brick-masonry outbuildings are attached to the building's rear and were used
as hay, feed, and coal storage. They were constructed prior to 1904 and may date to
1892 with the main structure, according to Sanborn Fire Insurance maps. The tall out-
building connected to the main building has a shed roof with parapet walls and a large
segmentally arched entrance. The small shed also has a shed roof with brick end parapet
walls and was open on the front. The remainder of the firehouse lot is paved and without
landscaping.

The firehouse interior reflected the state of firefighting in the 1890s. The first
floor was one large space that accommodated the steam engine, hose wagon, horses, and
all other necessary equipment. The second floor consisted of a large dormitory space
for the men, plus three smaller rooms for offices and meeting rooms and a bath. Interior
craftsmanship was simple and utilitarian, as was common in public firehouses, even with
elaborate exteriors. Interior features include beaded tongue-and-groove ceilings, unorna-
mented plaster-on-masonry walls, plain cast-iron columns for interior support, simple
door and window moldings, four-panel doors, upper wood floors and lower concrete floors,
and a stairway. Two original firepoles are no longer in place.

In 1954 Engine Company Number 1 moved to new quarters, and the building was used
as a theater before becoming offices for the City's electrical department. Interior

partitions were added to provide office space.

A 1985 certified historic rehabilitation repaired deteriorated features of the

building and made other interior alterations. The red-brick facade was cleaned, upper
windows uncovered and repaired, and fixed glazing with wood frames placed in the engine
entranceway already missing its wide doors. The stuccoed side and rear facades were

repaired and painted, existing windows were repaired, and infilled window openings were
re-opened. New partitions were added on both floors to provide office space and needed
facilities for an engineering firm. The second-floor original partitions were retained.
The tongue-and-groove ceilings, wood moldings, wood floors, and stairway were retained
and refurbished, as were two original storage cabinets. The brick outbuildings were
repaired and painted- on the exterior. The arched opening of the larger outbuilding
was filled in with recessed masonry, retaining the arched outline, to allow for a single-
door entrance. An interior wooden mezzanine was added for file storage space. The
openings of the smaller shed were also enclosed for supply storage.

The facade of Engine Company Number 1 looks very much as it did when constructed,
with the exception of the loss of its tower. The majority of its brick, stone, and
pressed-metal details still remain. Most importantly, the building retains its identi-
fying features as a late-Victorian public building and firehouse.



8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[ nationally [ statewide K Tiocatly

Applicable National Register Criteria [X]A [ B [Xc [ ]p
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA []B [Jc [Jp [Je [JF [a

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates

Architecture 1892-1938 (50 year cut-off) 1892
_Politics/Government

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder
Goodrich, Lewis Ford - Archi |
_Rounds, G, 1., = Builder

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

Statement of Significance

In the area of architecture, the 1892 Engine Company Number 1 is significant as
a late-19th-century firehouse constructed with "storefront-style" facade including the
typical firehouse feature of an oversized entrance. Its eclectic Victorian details
of Italianate corbeled brickwork and Romanesque arch are characteristic of red-brick
public buildings of the period. 1In the area of politics and government, the building
is significant as the first firehouse built by the City of Augusta for its city-paid
and city-administered fire department. These areas of significance support the property's
eligibility under National Register Criteria A and C.

Historic Context

Engine Company Number 1 symbolizes the recognition by the City of Augusta of the
need to shift from a volunteer to a paid fire department to improve public protection
near the end of the 19th century. It was the first firehouse in Augusta constructed
as a public building, and represents late-19th-century trends in the design of both
public buildings and of firehouses.

The major influences on firehouse design have come from the history of the modern
fire department and its administration, the shift from private to public fire service,
developments in firefighting equipment, and the fire department's popularity as an insti-
tution. The earliest fire companies formed in the 18th century were private and volun-
tary, and the first firehouses were small wooden sheds that housed the hand-pumped and
hand-pulled engines. In the first half of the 19th century, these fire companies became
community institutions, and their firehouses became more than simply a place to house

equipment. 1820s and 30s firehouses began including space for meeting rooms along with
space for the fire engine. As the fireman became celebrated as a hero, his firehouse
reflected his importance in the community. The volunteer companies often hired their

own architects to design elaborate stations befitting their high community standing.
In fact, station design became a point of rivalry between the companies, with each trying
to outdo the other. Firehouses built by cities for the volunteer companies also reflected
elevated department status with facades modeled after public-building design.

]see continuation sheet - -
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[j See continuation sheet
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

D—L]preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additional data:
has been pqOEatEd issued; rehab also certified [X] state historic preservation office
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D previously determined eligible by the National Register [:l Federal agency
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[:Irecorded by Historic American Engineering Specify repository:
Record #

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property less than one acre

UTM References
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Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
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[ ] see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
The nominated property corresponds to the current legal boundary. This boundary is
shown on the enclosed plat map.

l:] See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

The current boundary corresponds to the historic legal boundary.

[]see continuation sheet
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Around the mid-19th century, the public became dissatisfied with the social-club
attitudes and lack of efficiency of the volunteer companies. In 1853 Cincinnati, Ohio,
established the first city-administered and city-paid fire department, and other cities
followed this example in the 1850s, 60s, and 70s. Also in 1853, the first American
steam fire engine was built, and horses to pull the heavy steam engines became a standard
part of the department. The change in firefighting equipment and the organization of
paid fire departments brought a new era of professionalism and subsequent changes to
firehouse design.

The design of firehouses had generally followed current architectural trends, with
suitable elaborations as the volunteer departments could afford them. After cities
took over fire department administration, many of the existing volunteer firehouses
continued to be used. New stations were often less ornate and more uniform and incor-
porated industrial and commercial architecture forms, as they now were municipal build-
ings. Stations in downtown areas developed a '"storefront-style" facade taken from neigh-
boring commercial buildings that became a standard design for urban firehouses up through
the 1930s and 40s. In the 1870s and 80s many cities built large station blocks, housing
several companies and a department headquarters together, that were visual symbols of
municipal government.

Much late-19th-century public building design utilized red brick as the preferred
building material and followed Victorian trends toward rich color, texture, and pattern.
Stylistically, Italianate variations, sometimes with Gothic Revival details, and Richard-
sonian Romanesque were very popular. Jagged rooflines, projecting bays, and elaborate
towers provided architectural emphasis. Firehouses were no exception, as they were
conceived as important public buildings and once again as architectural tributes to
firemen.

The interior plans of firehouses most reflected the late-19th-century changes in
firefighting. Equipment space had to be large enough to accommodate both the steam
engine and stalls for the horses required to pull the engine. The regularly administered
and paid firemen were provided with expanded meeting rooms and living quarters on the
second floor, separated from the equipment and horses but within easy access. Interior
spaces were consistently unornamented and utilitarian.

Technological changes in the early 20th century brought new construction techniques
and materials and new firefighting equipment. The horse-drawn steam engine was replaced
by the internal combustion engine, removing the need for the equipment area to include
space for horses. Living quarters could be moved downstairs, and the entire station
designed in the form of a bungalow to fit discreetly into a neighborhood. Firehouse
design began to vary according to a station's location within a commercial area, indus-
trial area, or neighborhood. The design of firehouses has continued to follow current
technological and architectural trends up to the present, bound by only a few set require-
ments for equipment and living space and the essential oversized entrance.
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The history of the city of Augusta's fire department closely parallels firefighting
development elsewhere in the nation. Shortly after the city's incorporation in 1798,
volunteer fire companies began to organize. 1In the period from the 1860s to the 1880s,
steam engines were purchased, regular fire districts were established, and an alarm
system of street boxes was installed. In 1886, the City Council created the basis of
the present fire department by disbanding all volunteer companies and absorbing them
into a city fire department, and in 1888 the Council officially assigned ten regular
men with salaries to each company. It was for this new city-administered and city-paid
system of fire protection that the City built the first public firehouse at 452 Ellis
Street for Engine Company Number 1 in 1892, Engine Company Number 1 served Fire District
Number 1 which was defined as bounded north by the Savannah River, east by East Boundary,
south by Greene Street, and west by Center (Fifth) Street.

Engine Company Number 1 is representative of the late-19th-century concept of the
firehouse as a red-brick public building and as an architectural statement reflecting
the importance of firefighting. The facade's '"storefront-style" design consists of
an oversized "storefront" entrance and smaller side entrances and an upper facade with
double-hung windows and corbeled brickwork, typical of commercial buildings of the period.
The building follows the architectural trends of the 1890s with Italianate segmentally
arched openings and corbeled brickwork and Romanesque arch. The elaborate tower, now
missing, architecturally emphasized the building's function as a firehouse and the impor-
tance of the fire department as a public institution. The interior plan was typical
with open first-floor space for engine equipment and horses, and second-floor dormitory
space for the firemen with easy access downstairs via a firepole.

Three other firehouses survive in Augusta from prior to the construction of Engine
Company Number 1 and the establishment of the city fire department. Chemical Engine
Company Number 1 was built after 1839, burned in 1880 and was rebuilt. Hook and Ladder
Company Number 1 was built in 1857 and housed Firemen's Hall, a meeting place for volun-
teers. Richmond Engine Company Number 7 was built in 1884 and was later used by the
paid Engine Company Number 2. However, all of these firehouses have been substantially
altered to be used for retail and office space and no longer retain their firehouse

appearance.
Engine Company Number 1 is relatively intact and clearly recognizable as a
late-19th-century firehouse, even without its tower. Its primary significance lies

in the fact that it was Augusta's first public firehouse and represents the late-19th-cen-
tury shift from private to public fire service, period developments in firefighting
strategies, and the concept of the fire department as a popular municipal institution.
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